DocuSign Envelope ID: 71E54CF8-4FD5-41B3-9DC3-330E8EEB1A26

Scottish Child Abuse Inquiry

Witness Statement of

CXL

Support person present: No

Others present: Michael Short, Clyde & Co.

1. My name is RSN 'y date of birth is_ 1942. My contact

details are known to the Inquiry.

Background

2. | went to Clare College, Cambridge where | read Natural Sciences specialising in
Chemistry. On graduating | stayed on at Cambridge for a further year gaining a post
graduate certificate in education. | was then employed between 1965-1969 as an
assistant master by the |||l ocore moving to become an assistant
master at-School, Northamptonshire in 1969. Three years later | was
appointed a housemaster and for the next eight years in addition to teaching | ran a
senior boys boarding house. In 1980 | applied for and gained the SNANGN o

-School in Cumbria where | remained for a further eight years. In 1988 |
applied for and gained the appointment of Fettes College, Edinburgh
where | remained until | took early retirement in 1998.

Employment with the school

3.  Fettes had advertised the post of GAMIIIIIin The Times Educational Supplement
(TES), which is a well-known paper for advertising teaching appointments. | think it
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would have also appeared in a number of national newspapers because-
-appointments were often placed in papers like The Times or The

Scotsman. There was also a system that operated ||| EGTGTNTNGNNEE

where they would send notices of ppointments round schools. Some two
hundred and fifty schools would have received a separate piece of paper advising

that the Fettes was coming up.

4, | applied on the school’s application form that was supplied to me and | gave the
names of three referees. They were Viscount Whitelaw and Mr John Mawson, who
were the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Governors at- School,
and Dr Barry Trapnell, a distinguished headmaster of - School,
Northamptonshire. References were taken up and the shortlist of candidates were
selected. | attended the first round of interviews which were held in a fair amount of

privacy- The Board of Governors had appointed five or six from

their number to conduct the first round and filter out the candidates. | was successful

at being invited to the second round of interviews ||| EEGTNRGNGGG
_ They also had the opportunity to meet my wife during the
it unc

_ A proposed contract was drawn up and the [Jjjjwould

have seen the contents of this in order to ensure it was fair to the school and fair to
me. | was taken on with an open-ended contract with the expectation that | would
retire when | reached the age of sixty. Unless | was sacked or eased out | could
therefore have gone on another five years after | had retired. If both sides had

wanted it, we could have agreed that | went on longer than that.

9. The prerequisites for the job were that the Governors would expect me to have a
reasonable university degree, good teaching experience and a range of relevant
other interests. My housemaster experience was not a prerequisite but it indicated

that | had gained considerable experience in the guidance, overall development and
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pastoral care of pupils. | also had eight years experience as of-
Il school. It was a smaller school than Fettes but | had gained skills and

experience in[Jja co-educational boarding and day school. I

I hey would have checked my name against List 99 to

make sure | was not a banned teacher, they would have looked very carefully at my
references and they might even have phoned my referees. List 99 was kept by the
Department of Education and Science (DES) and it was a list of people who are
deemed unsuitable to teach children. Two Governors, Professor lan Stewart and

Lord MacLean came to -and saw me || - ¢ they
probably wished informally to meet my wife_

| am certain that they did their homework

on applicants properly and thoroughly. | was a registered teacher with the DES.

6. _
During mySXSIl]! attended regular conferences, particularly those run by the
I but also with other bodies like SCIS. There would be presentations and in

addition small groups would discuss educational and other issues that they wanted

to pursue. So | received regular on the job training in an informal way.

Policy

8. The Governors appoint the headmaster and the bursar. The Head then has total
authority in every aspect of the running of the school except for those areas that are

delegated to the bursar. That includes recruitment of staff and pupils, academic
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10.

work, games, cultural activities, extra-curricular activities, tone, discipline, welfare
and happiness and child protection policies.

-in succession two very good directors of studies, Robert Philp and then Tony
Reeves, |GGG < the management of the academic work
of the school. When we knew there was an SOED inspection coming up in 1995, it
was evident that many of the school’s policies were more implicit than stated. Tony
Reeves was exactly the sort of person who actually enjoyed writing up policy
statements, researching best practice and protocols and those kinds of things. So
his work in assembling the necessary documentation required for the Inspection was
absolutely invaluable. For example the Confidential Notes for Teaching Staff and
The Fettes College Handbook were collated largely by Tony Reeves and the
excellent FTE The Confidential Notes for Teaching
Staff comprised 53 pages covering a whole range of policies relating to the daily life
at Fettes including the aims of the school, house organisation, important routines,
school rules, chapel, discipline, expectations and sanctions, problems and
difficulties, dress regulations, leaves, the curriculum, academic orders and reports,
parent-staff meetings, prep policy, careers education and guidance, personal and
social education, child protection policy, games programme, extra-curricular
activities, Duke of Edinburgh’s Award, Combined Cadet Force, leadership training,
the Dining Hall and a number of other subjects. The Fettes College School
Handbook which comprised 28 pages was designed for use by parents and pupils
covering much the same topics but in less detail.

Strategic planning

The Governors for Fettes Trust have ultimate responsibility for the overall
management of the school. They appoint the Head and if the Head is not
satisfactory, it is their responsibility to get rid of him/her. The Governors held termly
full Board meetings. The Governors was an extremely talented group of individuals;
some were people who were appointed by outside bodies whilst others were co-
opted to produce a balance of expertise. We had a distinguished lawyer, people who

knew about property and land, people who were businessmen, an eminent doctor,
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15.

16.

Recruitment was another area requiring strategic planning. [ recruit
throughout the UK and -go to overseas countries such as Hong Kong, Saudi
Arabia as well as other countries to recruit.

Other staff

The bursar was responsible for recruiting and supervising all staff involved in
catering, the buildings and the maintenance of the school.

Recruitment of staff

-involved directly in the recruiting of all academic teaching staff and the two
school doctors. All teaching positions were advertised in the TES and any other
websites we could use. We wanted appointments to be as widely advertised
nationally as possible. When the applications came in they were considered by

- the director of studies and the relevant head of
department. [ Bl written references on selected candidates and |
occasionally made phone calls if it was a very important appointment such as a head

of department post or the appointment of a chaplain. When the references came in
we looked at the applications again and would work it down to usually three
candidates to come for interview.

References might not always be quite as detailed as you would want them to be. The
letter requesting a reference would advise the name of the person who had applied
for a post at the school and ask for information on the candidate’s potential teaching
ability and on his/her other potential contributions to school life. Sometimes the
references that were received were both detailed and helpful but on occasions they
were short and not particularly informative. The latter variety were often coming from
businesses when you might just get a reference to the effect that the person had
worked for that business for say five years and was a satisfactory employee. That
was useless as far as | was concerned because it did not really tell me anything
about the person.
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26.

perfectly competent in teaching their subjects but they might be unwilling to
contribute effectively to extra-curricular activities or pastoral care.

We had properly demanding parents, as you could imagine, because they were
paying substantial fees for the education of their children. They would not be slow to
tell-if they did not think a member of staff was good.couldn’t brush such a

situation under the carpet; -tell such a member of staff that if they couldn’t get

their act together, we could not continue to employ them.

| don't think there was much happening at all concerning staff appraisal when |
started at Fettes but, with the advice of and the director of
studies, we devised a system. After a staff member’s probation, | think every other
year every member of staff would be appraised. If they were a junior member of staff,
they would have a bit of choice in their appraiser but it would probably be done by his
or her head of department. For a more senior member of staff, it might be done by
the head of department, the director of studies or s This was
very time consuming but it was done. Once the appraisal was completed an agreed

report would be written up, to which both the appraiser and the member of staff

would sign up. |
_ In many cases this was a relatively easy

meeting and all [Jjjiilifto do was to thank them, telling them that not only did we
value their teaching but that we also appreciated their going the extra mile on behalf
of the pupils. [Jfirope to convey to them how much they were valued and that
we hoped that they were happy working at Fettes. We would of course talk about the
action points that had been identified where they could develop their skills or
improve. If there were difficulties, we had to address these but in the main, where we
knew we had issues with a staff member, we kept it out of the appraisal system;
otherwise the appraisal system would become very threatening. Therefore if we had
issues with someone, that would be dealt with entirely separately and [Jjjjjsay to
them that the management were not very happy and would discuss how we were

going to deal with it.









DocuSign Envelope ID: 71E54CF8-4FD5-41B3-9DC3-330E8EEB1A26

36.

37.

are very valuable people and because they were not always easy to acquire, this

could be a nice role for a housemaster’s wife to pursue.

Culture within — Fettes College

When | started at Fettes the deputy headmaster was Mr Neil Henderson. He was a
former headmaster of a well-known English school who had retired early and, partly
engineered by the Governors, he was appointed to Fettes because they wanted the
discipline bolstered a bit under || Bl Nei' Henderson had very much

_Neil Henderson, who was a formidable person,

to relax his somewhat fierce persona. He was an excellent man with a commanding

presence in the school and the pupils half loved him and they half feared him. Onceljjj

- he loosened up and he became a cult figure, greatly loved by
the pupils, because he was not having to do so much of the-disciplining. He
eventually retired _Mr He was an
outstanding-teacher and he had been_ and the housemaster

at Moredun House - an ace man of unimpeachable integrity. He had a very different

style || < \v2s 2'sc extremely good. | think he coined the

phrase, which | stole from him, “most Fettesians are wonderfully decent pupils and
most disciplinary issues can be dealt with by a firm word quietly administered”. That
was all that was needed for most decent law abiding pupils. We wanted it that way;
we had no wish to make any of them unhappy.

whenSNSI o Fettes in 1968 I 2 school that was

potentially wonderful; it was a dream job for a potential It was however
a school in which disciplinary standards had become uncertain. This situation was

causing damage to the school’s reputation amongst the chattering classes of

I ' vaiuable assistance from IRl

SNR and housemasters and housemistresses, the School Rules were

completely reviewed and revised.
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You have a lot of things to do when || 2d | naturally wanted to
carry out a root and branch review of everything. As however you
have to limit how many things you can undertake at one time so that you do them

thoroughly and properly. Once you make one effective change and the staff
recognise that you are competent, it is easier to implement further changes.

The issue concerning discipline had affected the school’s ability to recruit pupils
because, by and large, parents want to send their children to a well-run school where

the discipline is good.

With the help of an excellentand in consultation with the
housemasters and housemistresses, who were often on the front line in discipline,

the school rules were carefully reviewed and revised.-shared them explicitly
with the staff, all the pupils, the parents and indeed the wider school community. | am
sure that the new school rules were in place by not later than December 1988,
probably earlier._it as essential that pupils knew that they were expected
to adhere to the law of the land. The first statement in the School Rules was that
‘anything that is contrary to the law of the land is automatically against the school
rules’. This is a catch all rule covering a variety of potential misdemeanours. Pupils
also understood that if they broke certain important rules it would be likely to lead to
their being asked to leave the school. Predictability in disciplinary situations takes a
lot of the heat out of such events. | have also learned that if you take care of the
small things in school such as politeness, punctuality, haircuts, uniform regulations,
appropriate lengths of the skirts and wearing of make up and jewellery, then some of

the bigger things tend to take care of themselves.

41. -lightening up and bringing much greater clarity into the discipline of the school

had the effect of producing a wonderfully secure and happy school. It became a

terrific, vibrant community. There is a history of the school called ‘A Keen Wind

Blows by Robert Philio |

_ In 1995 a vendetta against the school was going good and



DocuSign Envelope ID: 71E54CF8-4FD5-41B3-9DC3-330E8EEB1A26

42.

43.

strong, led by a certain parent and encouraged by a journalist called _
who wrote in a number of the Scottish newspapers. There were all sorts of lurid

stories appearing in the newspapers which indicated _a concentration
camp and that pupils were badly treated. There were many horrific and fabricated
stories designed to damage the school. The parents and pupils knew that this was
complete nonsense but, to help me illustrate my point, perhaps | can quote from this
book “fo the bewildered parents and pupils it was as if there were two schools, the
oppressive Fettes of journalistic myth and the Fettes they knew with its warmth and

understanding atmosphere”.

-of the _had picked up that there might be a scandal to be

uncovered at Fettes and he visited the school arriving in- 1995 to investigate
these lurid tales. He discovered instead that, and | quote him,” today’s 485 boys and
girls find Fettes M- Gl s friendly and happy a school as any on either side
of the border”. This was an experienced correspondent from ||| o
went round schools and he found Fettes not exceeded in happiness or warmth both
north or south of the border. | wanted exactly that atmosphere.

Discipline and punishment

The reason that | believe discipline was such a priority_ was that
Fettes was a school that, at the time | started, had four hundred pupils and many of
them of course were adolescent teenagers. We were co-educational and we were a
school on the fringe of a vibrant city to which senior pupils had access at the
weekends with the opportunity to indulge in smoking, drinking and what have you.
There were school rules in place on my arrival but there were different editions of

these rules posted in different places around the school. The

was an absolute stickler and he had a very similar philosophy to myself that the rules

should be clear and the outcome should be predictable._

had taken a more flexible approach and he perhaps had taken the view
that every disciplinary situation could be judged on its merits. He was a very humane
man and he perhaps wanted on occasions to give pupils the benefit of the doubt. He









DocuSign Envelope ID: 71E54CF8-4FD5-41B3-9DC3-330E8EEB1A26

. N -

51.

52.

was a hierarchy when it came to dealing with discipline because we didn't want the
housemasters and housemistresses becoming punishment machines. If a member of
staff had trouble in a lesson or during an activity we hoped that the member of staff
would deal with it. By and large most of the pupils in our care were wonderful decent
pupils and a firm but quiet word would check most disciplinary incidents. Where there
is a strong disciplinary lead from the Head it makes it much easier for the staff
because if they are having a discussion with a pupil, they can give them the choice to
rectify their behaviour or offer the alternative of going to see the headmaster. If the
pupil thinks the headmaster is not going to be very sympathetic to them, they will
usually agree to do it the teacher’s way. We wanted minor things to be dealt with by
the staff, not by punishment but by a word. If a word from the teacher did not work or
it was a more serious thing, it would go to the housemaster or housemistress. They
could issue sanctions like detention, litter picking duties or they might gate them
which would not allow them to go out up town in their free time. These were minor
sanctions. If there was gross rudeness or indiscipline the pupil would probably be
sent to the deputy headmaster who would vigorously make it clear how we felt about
such behaviour.
SHR dealt with, as a matter of course, smoking and alcohol offences.
They were quite routine issues as you can imagine in a boarding school. We had
agreed we would have a tiered system of punishments so that for a first offence
there was a minor punishment; for second or third offences the punishments got
bigger. The deputy headmaster would keep a book so he had a record of whom he
disciplined about this. Cancer Research made a lot of money out of the Fettes pupils
caught smoking. They not only got a punishment but they used to have to send a
contribution to Cancer Research with a letter saying how much they cared about
people suffering from cancer.

As far as senior pupils having responsibility for administering discipline and
punishment was concerned there was a sea change when | was there. We
introduced, perhaps in 1995, although | cannot recall the precise date, one of my
best educational initiatives which was a leadership training programme which
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Cameron Cochrane || oot rid of fagging, maybe even Anthony
Chevenix-Trench before that might have done this. That didn’t mean to say that
junior pupils did not have duties. They might have responsibilities for locking up the
house, ringing the house bell, cleaning areas of the house or picking up litter. Each
house was a little empire in itself. There was no situation where a junior boy was a
personal servant to a senior boy.

Day to day running of the school

Housemasters and housemistresses were very important appointments because you
were entrusting the care of the pupils to that particular person..housemasters and
housemistresses were very much part of-senior management team. -
weekly meeting with them || R -'so 2ttended by SIS
SNR and the senior master. We would mainly discuss what | would describe
as general management and pastoral care issues. Academic matters were dealt with
by the director of studies and by the heads of departments; so there was a separate
heads of department meeting_ That was where academic
matters were discussed. There were various other committees, including a games
committee. | think that in day schools there is often a very clear management
pyramid structure because they are only needing, in the main, to care for the children
during normal school hours. We were caring for the pupils 24 hours a day throughout
the term. The school usually runs like clockwork during the main school day because
there is not much time for the pupils to misbehave. The fun and games begin during
the evening and weekends. .Saturdays and Sundays were often busy with phone
calls from housemasters and housemistresses about difficulties that had arisen over

the weekend.

We started the school day at 8.30am with a short chapel service for the whole
school. It was an important event because it brought the whole school together and
gave a sense of belonging. We were interdenominational in outlook and we had an
element of both the Anglican and Church of Scotland denominations promoted within
school services. After each weekend [Jilladdress the school on the Monday
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housemistress, housemaster or housemistress, the matron in the boarding houses,
the director of studies or_ They
could speak in complete confidence to one of the two school doctors, we had a male
and female doctor, or to the sister or nurse in the sanatorium. These particular

conversations were completely confidential.

Parents would often contact housemasters or housemistresses if they thought there
was a concern about the child’s happiness, welfare, progress or subject grading.
They could discuss anything that was of concern to them or to their sons and
daughters. Fee paying parents are certainly not slow to let you know if their child is
not being well taught or is not happy and well cared for. They always have the option
of course of moving their child to another school, although one hopes that doesn’t
happen. Sometimes parents would phone or write to the school and in extreme
cases the parents might contact the Chairman of Governors direct. ||| [ |GTGzN

-

-o the Chairman of Governors, he was keen not to meddle in the day
to day running of the school. He would therefore always ask such a parent if they
had tried to resolve the issue with the school and if they had reached an impasse,
then he would take the matter up-The Chairman of Governors was reluctant
to interfere on relatively trivial issues because that would have been a nightmare.

People could have come-and got a ruling which they perhaps didn't like it and
then have attempted to get the decision changed by contacting him. That wouldn’t

have worked.

Reporting of complaints/concerns

| didn’t mind any parent raising concerns -about the management of the
school. Sometimes the complaints raised would be entirely valid [Jflwanted to get
it right for the parent and the pupil. This might be a lever i to improve the
performance of members of staff.- not assume that every member of staff was

completely innocent and if a parent had a valid complaint,-quite robust
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our child protection policy and that pastoral care was the responsibility of every
member of staff. This was not optional it was their duty to look after every pupil they

came into contact with.

With regards to my view of what constitutes abuse being communicated to the staff,
all | can say is that | wanted the care for the pupils in the school to be undertaken
with the same thoroughness and kindness that | would want for my own children. My
mantra was that the best interest of the pupils comes first. That was a guiding light

for me when dealing with any difficulties ||| G

It is not of course possible to know pupils in the way you know your own
children but | felt that | had a huge responsibility for their welfare.

Child protection arrangements

Our child protection arrangements were not formally defined until 1995 when there
was a sea change. Until that point individual schools did as best they could to try and
get these things as good as they could. In 1995 however SCIS produced excellent
guidelines on child protection. Fettes, which | think may have contributed to these
guidelines, decided to adopt them in full. That meant new protocols and policies
within the school. We also appointed a child protection officer, Mrs Judy Campbell, a
very fine lady indeed. She proved an outstanding choice, handling problems with
wisdom, discretion and tact and keeping me right on protocols when serious issues

arose.

The concept of a designated child protection officer had not really arisen before
1995. As | explained during my interview, there were many policies relating to
pastoral care and indeed to many other school matters that were just implicitly
understood in the 1990s. However the 1995 SCIS guidelines on child protection
coupled with the advent of the SOED Inspection during the Autumn Term 1995

galvanised us into getting written policy statements on many such issues.
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It was the responsibility of the Governors, who were a very high calibre governing
body, ultimately to be monitoring the performance of the school. They seemed to

have confidence |GG so they did not choose to interfere
with the policie: [

The school was only inspected once when | wasand the background
QWH

was that Mrs during 1995 had complained to the Scottish Office Department
of Education (SOED), amongst the many other organisations which she had
approached. Their senior inspectors came-and they asked what had been
going on. | told them about the event in||| Il 1992 when s ¢ boys
to leave the school following an incident involving the use of cannabis. They
suggested - that they would like to come and undertake their most thorough
inspection of the school in order that they could protect themselves against any
suggestion of their not having reacted after receiving a serious allegation. | said |
would be delighted if they would do exactly that as soon as it could be conveniently

arranged.

The inspectors came to the school in October and November 1995 and their report
was published in March 1996. This is an important document to read if you really
want to know how the school was performing at that time. The SOED Inspectorate
were an independent body and they were empowered to investigate every aspect of
school life.

During their inspection the inspectors spoke alone to pupils and groups of pupils. The
parents were invited to return a very detailed questionnaire. They spoke to many
members of staff individually and with members of the senior management team. | do
not think that the inspectors found that the inspection of a boarding school was an
entirely easy task because their experience was mainly in inspecting day schools.
N | ke to
them explicitly about the vendetta that had been waged against the school since
1992.
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When | arrived at the school the quality of the academic results was patchy, indeed
unacceptably patchy. We had an extremely favourable staff pupil ratio and it ought
to have been relatively easy for us to deliver good results. Altogether it was clearly
not good enougn Y <o s a
recording system relating to the academic performances of pupils in place but which
-tightened up so that every month every member of staff was asked to supply
an effort and performance grade in their subject for every pupil they taught. These
grades were put on a record card which would go back to the boarding house where
the house staff team would follow these up with individual pupils. These grades were

also recorded on year group sheets _ prior to a whole

sart mestivg [
I Fo'oing iscussion of genera

school matters at these meetings|Jj ] auickly go through every form in the
school and, having looked carefully at the sheets beforehand, -here
were two or three pupils in each year group for whom things might not be going well.
_identify a general issue relating to a particular pupil or maybe-

-something private like their father had died or their parents were divorcing. We
would discuss these two or three pupils and we would agree as a staff what was
going to happen. If a pupil was not putting in the right effort, then everyone who
taught that pupil would know they must tighten up. If a pupil was showing bad
behaviour, every member of staff who taught that pupil or who coached that pupil in
games or whatever would tighten up a bit- ask if a pupil was in the right
teaching set because sometimes you might discover a very clever pupil or a pupil
who had improved his/her efforts in a low set and- ask if that child should be
moved up to a higher set_ sometimes
surprise pupils by congratulating them on getting good grades in a particular subject.
That would be enough for them to think thatknew a great deal more
about them than he probably did. Suffice it to say that the school’'s examination
results improved significantly year on year and within a few years they were certainly
not matched by any other school in Scotland.

We had parents meetings and at these meetings there would be presentations on

subject choices, health and safety issues or what we were doing about sex
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I e for every member of staff and every pupil in the school office. | I

I Vit the members of staff it might not always be formally recorded;

if it was a relatively trivial issue, it might be a very short note_

For example the note might just say that there had been a quick meeting to express

disapproval to whoever it was. Housemasters and housemistresses kept their own
files because they were very much in the firing line of parents || Gz

I so hat records housemasters and

housemistresses kept was their business.

A member of staff’s file would contain their application form, their references we had

received and .interview notes. There would also be notes on any significant

meetings_ with them on important issues.

Housemasters or housemistresses might or might not keep records of punishments.

Probably for serious things they would put a quick note in the pupil’s file | should
think. They might keep a book as they did in some houses._

I Y o ave kept deailed records on smoking,

drinking and any other serious issues he dealt with. Any issues_
unless they were minor, ||l made a note of and popped this into the
respective file. These notes were helpful if there was any comeback from the

parents.
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Minutes for staff meetings were always taken. The senior master had the duty of
keeping minutes of the staff meetings and of the housemasters and housemistresses
meetings. The director of studies kept minutes of heads of department meetings.

Investigations into abuse — personal involvement

92. | var the late Mr iSRS after it had been reported [l by the

93.

94.

95.

director of studies that he had been sending suggestive messages to one of the girls.
_wamed him if this should ever happen again |l
suspend him from the staff and that the school would probably cease his
employment at Fettes. | do not have the date for that warning available to me-
I c<t2inly reported it to the Chairman of Governors and | am pretty
sure also to the full Board of Governors.

From memory | think these allegations were made when | was in my second or third
years at Fettes which would be around 1990 approximately. When | left the school |
of course left all the records at Fettes and so | am just speaking from memory about
an event that was thirty or so years ago.

M- (Sl taught pupils in the [l cepartment which included |

and [l work. He would have been in his fifties | would think. | do not

remember the age of the girl and | don't think [ flfinterviewed her. e
interviewed the master and challenged him with the information that the director of
studies had brought_ making it quite clear [Jjnot tolerate
such behaviour, that it must never happen again and [Jjjjijheard that it had, i

Il suspend him immediately from the staff. The Chairman of the Governors
supported- having taken the right action concerning this matler.lnever had
cause to speak to Mr again regarding any disciplinary matter.

This is typical of how- deal with such matters. If there was any form of lack of
professionalism, -of course interview the member of staff and would either just

give them a general warning or possibly a formal warning. If it was a really serious
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issue,-suspended them from the staff and would have then discussed
what the next step should be with the Chairman of Governors.

-agreement that whenever there was serious disciplinary situation with pupils
where they might be asked to leave the school or a serious disciplinary incident
concerning a member of staff -immediately keep the Chairman of the Board of

Governors informed

Specific allegations of abuse made against me for which there has been no

criminal investigation or conviction

v R o bohar o hr sor
I 25k six fifth form boys to leave the school in -1 992 following an

incident involving the use of cannabis and one of the mothers complained that her
son had not been treated properly during the interview process. Followed that event
there was a prolonged vendetta against |Jiliithe school in which many
spurious allegations were raised by the person leading this vendetta and by a certain

journalist.

As far as the cannabis incident is concerned the circumstances were that a school
dance was organised on the evening of _1 992. During the following
days housemasters and housemistresses reported -that they had picked up
rumours that a number of pupils might have experimented with cannabis in the
school grounds during the dance. Some preliminary enquiries took place and
eventually suspicion focused on six particular boys. They were called_
one morning during the following week. It was Jjjpolicy that when pupils were

interviewed about serious offences that_their housemaster,
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housemistress orto be present to witness the process. That

was to ensure that procedures during the interview were fair and correct. The boys
were first segregated into different areas ||| R e reason
for this was to ensure that they could not collaborate and stitch up a false story when
giving their individual accounts on what had happened. The boys were then
interviewed in turn and after each interview they were asked to provide a written
statement of their version of the events. The statements were then compared to
check for variations, and of course, initially they all contained varying accounts on
what had occurred. The boys were then re-interviewed and they were given the
chance to change their statements. This happened several times. It was a very
difficult and lengthy process and | fully understand that it was distressing for the boys
themselves. The whole process went on far longer than anticipated and eventually in
the afternoon all six boys confessed that they had used cannabis during the evening
of the dance. _ they were all immediately suspended from
attendance at the school and _inform their parents what was to happen to
them after-discussed the whole matter with the Chairman of Governors.

99. [immediately arranged a meeting with | lll Governors who was
and he agreed that the school had in place a clear policy that pupils must

adhere to the law of the land and that the use of drugs was strictly forbidden. The
sanction for misusing drugs was also well understood. He agreed that it was
unfortunately necessary-to contact the parents of the six boys and ask them
to remove them from the school. The parents were informed of this on or around the

_ 1992. _ was one of these boys and he was able to

secure a place at Gordonstoun to continue his education there. Mrs [SNuNNGNGNGNGNG
his mother, was most unhappy [
- She wrote to the Chairman of Governors on 22 October 1992 making
inaccurate statements [Jll The Chairman of the Governors replied to her on

the 26 October and the Clerk to the Governors wrote to her on 5 November 1992.-
reported the whole matter to the full Board of Governors_and it
was carefully reviewed by the full governing body on 2 December 1992.-

I ' e ncidenis involing the

use of drugs came to my attention during my following six years at Fettes.
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| do not have access to the records which will be retained by the school so | cannot
remember the names of all the other boys involved.

| have kept some personal notes concerning the incidents involving Mrs
because after| ] 1292 she made a whole series of complaints
against myself and against various members of staff. Some were just a succession
of minor complaints but there were more major complaints as well. Some of these
complaints did have some validity but in most cases incidents had been greatly
exaggerated or distorted from what had actually happened. There were also some
complete fabrications and there were some plain untruths. To go into all of these
would take many hours and would serve no useful purpose.

It was very well understood by everyone closely associated with Fettes that the
possession or use of drugs or other illegal substances in the school was an
expellable offence. This was the first incident of drug misuse in the school ||

I - ¢ i< outcome may sound a bit harsh. |

hated asking pupils to change their educational plans but every decision you make
i is a signal to the school of what is or what is not permissible. It was worth
mentioning that it is quite an expensive thing for the school to lose six pupils because
you lose six sets of fees; so you certainly do not do it at random. | felt it was my duty

to carefully look after the children who had been entrusted to the school and to
protect them as far as was possible from the use of drugs. ||| G

N | consider that they

are illegal substances and | believe that they are an insidious influence on young
people. | regarded it as my responsibility to protect the children in the school from
their potential dangers. The way you can do this is by having a clear rule and by
making it absolutely clear what the sanction will be. The consequence of course is
that when your bluff is called you have to enforce the established rule. The boys
were fifteen or sixteen and, in their defence, it was not a very big incident; they were
just experimenting with some cannabis. It was all very sad but the outcome was
unavoidable under the circumstances.
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S rote to me and | think she had two points that she wished to make.
The first was that she didn’t want her son to leave the school and she wanted [Jjjj to
reinstate him. Secondly | think she also made the argument-dealing with

drugs issues in the wrong way. It was indeed true some schools in England were

keeping their pupils on if they used drugs and that they then tried to manage the

whole issue.

I olicy was however that the use of drugs was an

expellable offence.

had a younger sister called in the junior house which was
run by housemaster Andrew Alexander. occasionally managed to get into
confrontations and minor bits of trouble. Following the enforced departure of [l
from the school Mrs during the next two terms, had launched a whole series

of complaints against various members of the Fettes staff. _

Mr Alexander, the housemaster of the junior house, and | endeavoured to follow up
each and every one of her complaints in an attempt to resolve them. We investigated
each complaint thoroughly and reported back to her, telling her what we had done or
what we were trying to do. It seemed however that she was continuing to seek
issues about which she could express dissatisfaction. She was making it very clear
to people, and indeed to the Governors, that she did not have confidence in ||l

leadership of the school or in certain members of.staff. _

Mrs Sl had a long association with the school because she was the daughter of
a distinguished Fettes -and she had grown up in the grounds of the school. |
think this partly explains why she was so upset with the school when her son was
asked to leave. She had a strong family link through her father, | KEGcINEINNEG

who was a very well liked and respected former -who had been-
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2R | think she was
initially very pleased when I took up my appointment at Fettes ||| GGz

_ and she had three children at the school. Word was out that she

was singing my praises locally. She did not however sing my praises after
I 1992 1t was a curious situation because she said that she had lost all
confidence in me S bt she still very much wanted her children to
attend the school.

We decided that we were not able to satisfy Mrs[SII continuing complaints. We
would deal with one and hopefully solve it but the next again week there would be
another one. She hadn’t made any complaints before|ilihad been asked to
leave the school. Her subsequent complaints were against various different
members of staff.

She confirmed [Jfj 5o ahead and investigate her
complaint. SN was a slightly idiosyncratic person and she had her own

idiosyncratic methods of teaching. | was absolutely adamant
that the quality of teaching should be outstanding._

under Ofsted, the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills

and the SOED in Scotland there are numerous protocols on good practice
concerning how lessons in most subjects might be taught. Although this doubtless
has the intention of ensuring good quality education across different schools, in my
view, it can also stifle originality, creativity and imagination through limiting teaching
styles. Believe you me, pupils love to go from lesson to lesson and encounter
different approaches in these lessons. In some cases lessons might be quite formal

and disciplined with all the tables in rows facing the front. In others the tables might
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be set in a circle and the pupils might be invited to get up and speak, act or debate
topics. Some teachers might wish to operate in a very didactic way while other

teachers might teach using less orthodox methods. _

successful the school management would quickly intervene._

I | tought it was beneficial for the pupils to come across different

teaching styles. Mrs Sliillldid not approve of SIS teaching style but it
was clear to the school’'s management that was a highly effective

teacher of ||l and other subjects. Not every pupil liked her admittedly

but she was known to be a highly successful teacher. ||| GGG

On 29 January 1993 Mrs sent. a letter of complaint about RGN
e TR ——y

also wrote a further letter of complaint about on 9 February 1993. This
was made to Mr Alexander, the housemaster of the junior house, and he replied to

her in writing.

On 8 February Mrs[SllEll visited the reception hall and quizzed the receptionist

about some troubles she had heard about at the junior house. On 9 February i}
I rcrort from Mr Alexander to say that Mrs [SgIIll had caused further

problems at the junior house, maybe making complaints. | don’t know specifically

what had happened because | do not have those records.

| received reports that Mrs [Siiall] Was making adverse comments about me and
about Fettes at lunch parties around Edinburgh. It was also reported to me that she
was actively attempting to spread false allegations about Fettes to various people
around Edinburgh. She was very rude to the Chairman of Governors at the Inverleith

Burns Night Supper.

There was an adverse report about Fettes in - newspaper-February and
it was reported to me that her elder son -was in possession of -in
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school that day. It was not normal for pupils to carry newspapers around to lessons,
especially- newspaper. This is just a flavour of the problems that continued to
arise and | could give further examples. It was therefore reluctantly considered that
mutual trust between the School and this parent had broken down and that she was
deliberately trying to cause trouble.

The Governors then took independent legal advice from a highly respect QC, Mr
William Nimmo-Smith. He confirmed the school did have the right to give due notice
if it no longer wished to have the responsibility for the education of a pupil in a
situation in which the parents had made it clear they had lost confidence in the
school. The Clerk to the Governors, Mr Alasdair Fox, wrote to Mrs kiallllon 2
March 1993 and gave her notice that the school wished her to make other
arrangements for Al education after the end of summer term in 1993. We gave
her more than a full term’s notice because parents had to give the school a term’s
notice if they wanted to take their children out. This was a very unusual event and |
cannot recall any other occasion when such a step of this nature was taken during
my entire school career. It was however decided that this was a step which the
school needed to take because there was a clear breakdown in the relationship
between the school and this particular parent. Mrswas not, | think, happy
with this decision.

On 7 June 1993 there was a minor disciplinary incident in the junior house involving
Wand two other girls. The housemaster of the junior house wanted to interview
the three girls individually about the incident and of course for safeguarding reasons
he did this in the presence of ||| EGR Mrs One of the girls was
acting up in a silly way, | think trying to barge into a meeting when Mr Alexander was
interviewing another girl instead of waiting outside. Mrs naturally got upset
and she used inappropriate language towards this other girl, not She said
words similar to ‘stop being a silly bitch’. and the other two girls then
departed from the school without permission; that was totally against the school rules
because we were responsible for the care of the day pupils until it was time for them
to go home. They marched out of the school and went home early. Mrsthen
informed | llshe was withdrawing Sgallllj from the school. That was about three
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weeks before the end of the term. il subsequently went on to St George's
School in Edinburgh. After this upset-cali in Mrs GELIli~ the presence of
Mr Alexander about her use of bad language towards a pupil. _
fully accepted that she had been sorely provoked, it was still not acceptable for her to
use bad language towards a pupil. ||| ilithis must never happen again. She
apologised saying that she had just got a bit angry. She fully accepted this ruling and

gave [Jilassurance that this mistake would never happen again. ||  EEIEEE

This seemed appropriate and quite sufficient.

| might be wrong on this matter but if there has been an allegation that-
I - oider brother of [l and left the school early | would not be
able to corroborate that. -was in the upper sixth form in 1992-1993, that is the
top year, and he completed his Higher exams successfully. To the best of my
memory he went on to St Andrews University. | have looked up the school magazine
for December 1993 and that seems to be oorrect.-sure that if he had been
asked to Ieave-or if Mrs had decided to remove him early,-have
made a record of that. By that time|jjjjjjjjeeping a careful detailed record of what
was going on with this particular family and-no such record.

As far as a media strategy was concerned throughout the vendetta | responded to
allegations in the newspapers by issuing press statements. However the press were
not very fair; they would give a lot of coverage to the complainant and they published
plenty of lurid stories that might have related to a Fettes of thirty or forty years before
but these stories did not relate to the Fettes _ _ issue a press
release but maybe all the press coverage would say was that jeal denied
the allegation or something similar; they often wouldn’t quote verbatim-had

said. Eventually some Governors had the idea to engage a public relations expert
who could undertake the task of preparing press statements- but this did not
prove any more effective in counteracting the false reports that were cropping up.
There was a curious aspect to all this. Although pupils do not mind grumbling and
criticising the management of the school and particularly the Head when he is
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making some unpopular decisions, the pupils were sickened by the bad publicity that
Fettes was receiving. They realised that the allegations were untrue and in a way this
united the staff and pupils in a sense of injustice. So in a way this speeded up the
process of greatly improving the whole tone of the school and the establishment of
mutual trust and respect between staff and pupils.

Police investigations/ criminal proceedings

On 12 May 1993 the Governors received a letter for a_who was an
Old Fettesian and who lived in St Andrews. In this letter he alleged that there was
child abuse occurring at Fettes. The school immediately asked him to give more
information so that we could explore the issue but he wouldn’t do this. We had a very
good Governor called Dr John Munro who had been appointed to the governing body
by the Royal College of Physicians. He drove to St Andrews to see-but when
he got there [Jjdismissed him and said he would not supply any further
information. We urgently wanted the information because this was a very serious

allegation to make and we wanted to investigate it. The _Governors,
therefore informed the police that there had been this serious allegation and he
asked them if they would investigate it.

The police were also unable to get any further information from - They went
to see him but he wouldn't speak to them. On 25 February 1994 detective inspector
(DI) Ross and detective sergeant (DS) Reynolds took statements_
I < G ey asked questions about

two events. The first of these was the wayjjj ]l handled the drugs incident

in 1992 involving the_expulsion and they also asked about the fuss
that had occurred in the junior house in June 1993 when Mrs [FSHlll had used

inappropriate language towards one of the girls. The police then confirmed to the
Governors that they considered that |Jjjjjjij a!legations of child abuse had no

foundation. They also confirmed that they felt there was absolutely no case of child
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abuse in the way [Jjhandied the disciplinary incident in |l 1992 or in the
fuss that had occurred in the junior house in June 1993.

This had been highly unsatisfactory behaviour by-and so the Clerk to the
Governors, Mr Alasdair Fox, reported -to the General Medical Council on 14
June 1993 to say that the School was disturbed that as a doctor he had made such a
serious allegation and was then not prepared to substantiate it.

I know nothing about |l but | have looked him up and his name is in the list of
Old Fettesians. | have never met him and | have never spoken to him. | can only
imagine that someone encouraged him to make such a complaint in order to cause
trouble. If he had any real belief that there was child abuse at the school, he would
surely have wanted to tell the school about it and he would certainly have wanted to
tell the police. It was a bizarre event but not the only bizarre incident that |
experienced during the course of the vendetta. | want to make it absolutely clear that
the police completely exonerated || GG coceming
there being any case of child abuse in the way the school handled the drugs incident
in | 1992. They also completely exonerated Mr Andrew Alexander and Mrs
hel or any case of child abuse when inappropriate words were used towards a
pupil in the summer of 1993. ENgfjhad instigated the request to the police that
they should investigate these matters and | imagine they would have reported their
findings direct to him or to the Clerk of the Governors.

Reports of abuse and civil claims

on 21 September 1995 ||l o had left the school three years

previously, issued a summons on _and the Governors of

the Fettes Trust. | do not have a copy of that summons but it will be held by Fettes.
The Governors decided they wanted to defend the school and the members of staff
and they appointed independent lawyers, Balfour and Manson, who in turned
engaged William Nimmo-Smith QC. In 1997 there were negotiations between Balfour
and Manson and the solicitors who were acting on behalf of ||| 2~¢
his mother, Mrs QUGS On 7 July 1997 a provisional agreement was
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reached and this was wholly conditional not only on the action being dismissed but
with decree of dismissal being coupled with one of absolvitor. | am not a lawyer;
however my understanding of this comes from a letter _8 July 1997
from Mr Alasdair Fox, the Clerk to the Governors. | quote a section of it “absolvitor
means literally that the various defenders, including you, will be absolved of all the
allegations which the summons made against the governors, you and your
colleagues. Settlement will therefore go much further that the non-admission of the
allegations. Your complete innocence will be established. The settlement is also to
coincide, as you are aware, with an exchange of letters between the Chairman,
I G - '+ SRl by which it is hoped the enmity
that has arisen between the ||l anc |l 72mily and the school can be
brought to an end.” | am sure that settiement went through and was confirmed and
the school and Governors will have a copy of it. | do not have a copy of this

document.

This is, in my view, a matter of very key importance and it is one of the most crucial
bits of information | can give you about this matter. Mrs and vr. IR
I of their own volition settled the case and signed the agreement on the
terms that | have supplied. | think that this proves beyond doubt that there was a
legal agreement between the school and the family in which the family
acknowledged that || : d the Governors of the Fettes
Trust were innocent of all the allegations they had made relating to how the drugs
incident in _1992 had been handled. | imagine that the allegations which
Mrs SN - V' 2y have made to the Scottish Child
Abuse Inquiry about this matter may be the same or very closely similar to the
allegations they made in that summons dated in September 1995. If this is indeed
the situation, | think this proves that they appear to have reneged on their legal
agreement with the school in 1997. | would imagine the school and its lawyers may
wish to consider their response to the breaking of this legal agreement. Subject to
the school lawyers and the Inquiry confirming this absolvitor, which | do not believe is
in doubt, | believe this means that the allegations that Mrs SN 2nd Mrs
I 2 < made on this particular matter to the Inquiry should be
considered to be false. | would therefore request that the Inquiry team declare that
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these specific allegations are invalid. | understood earlier from a member of the
Inquiry team that there were only two complainants making allegations of child abuse
at Fettes during the period 1998-1998 If the allegations of
Mrs SUGHE and possibly NG o EESEEEEE - < deemed without

proper foundation, | think that this establishes that there were no valid allegations of

child abuse occurring at Fettes

Specific alleged abusers
William Stein

Mr. Bill Stein was the master in charge of swimming and there was a complaint made
about him during the autumn term 1997 and in December 1997|ffreported to the
Governors |GGG - </ 2 disciplinary meeting
with Bill Stein. It had come to my notice that there had been a complaint about Mr
Stein, which | think might possibly have come from Mrs. The complaint was
that Mr Stein had been participating in a game with junior school pupils at the end of
swimming lessons. | would like to make it clear that this was some four years after
the Iast_pupil had left the school. Mr Stein seemed to have had some sort
of tag game in which he swam around the pool chasing the pupils. | think that the
pupils dived in and swam across the pool without him catching them. It was that sort

ot ame

I <) ioid me that they were certain that
these games had just been a bit of fun with no evil intent. ||| GTGcGcNGGEEGE
_ of the view that this game was undoubtedly regarded as

good fun by the pupils, this was not acceptable practice from a member of staff and
that it could leave it him open to the criticism of improperly touching pupils. _
-what might be acceptable behaviour for a father or an uncle to indulge in
with children was not appropriate for a member of staff. -gave Mr Stein a
formal warning and told him in absolutely explicit terms that his participation in
games of this nature must cease and that if such behaviour cropped up again, his

continued employment at the school would be in jeopardy. Mr Stein, whom |

regarded as a very decent man, apologised ||| GGG
_categorical assurance that he would completely abide
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Leaving the school

| decided to take early retirement in the summer of 1998 when | had completed ten
years at Fettes. | could have gone on for a further five years under my contract if |

had wanted to. [

that it was the right time for the school and the right time for me personally to make a
change.

There were four reasons really_putting

together a major business plan for the school which would completely develop the
school with a new phase of buildings over the next few years. This was going to
involve major fundraising and the planning of new buildings. | really had to decide if |
had the energy and stamina to do another full five years. It would have been very
disruptive to continue for say just two or three more years because we would then be
in the middle of the fundraising and the implementation of the business plan.

Another reason was there was a major review coming up for the senior management

team because both theMr and the senior master

Mr David Burns were retiring in 1999. These were very important appointments. We

knew that we needed a formal senior mistress and there were various other senior

appointments that we needed to make. _

B | =s however clear that we were reaching a stage when

an expanded management structure was required to manage the school effectively.
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29 years when | retired in 1998 and for 26 of them | had been in extremely
responsible and demanding positions. She sacrificed her career so she could

support me as a housemaster and in two We were ready for a
phase when we could take the foot off the peddle a bit. | had fully achieved my aims

for the school, _ academic
achievement had been transformed with outstanding examination results being
achieved, -restored and increased the school numbers with the school being full
and expanding and the pupils overall were a marvellous group of young people.
Indeed | would have been delighted for almost any of the pupils to have been my
own son or daughter. They were a terrific, positive and happy group of Fettes pupils.

push through significant improvements in every area of school life and so | was
willing to work harder than average. You cannot run at these sorts of revs and keep

your health forever and | didn’t think that this was necessarily fair on my wife.

There was one other thing nagging away at me. | was not sure when | went into
teaching whether | would go into the maintained or independent sector. | went into
the independent sector because | thought | could do more than just teach. | could
coach games, contribute to extra-curricular activities and have much more
involvement with pastoral care and with the personal developments of pupils. | had
therefore spent my career looking after children who, in the main, came from
comfortable and happy homes and they received a very good quality of education
with massive opportunities to develop their individual talents and abilities. It nagged

me that there was another world out there where people faced great difficulties and |



DocuSign Envelope ID: 71E54CF8-4FD5-41B3-9DC3-330E8EEB1A26

135.

was keen to get involved in some charity work. There was a charity called Cancer

and Leukaemia in Childhood of which | became a trustee ||| GGG
_ | also, because | was living in Cumbria, became a trustee-

I o Cumbria Cerebral Palsy. | took up these posts and undertook a few
other charitable things together with a few Governorships of schoals. It wasn't

lucrative but | hope it compensated for my independent school career.

Other Information

| have requested to provide a brief personal statement to the Inquiry which | have
prepared and this now follows. To the best of my knowledge there were no cases of
child abuse at Fettes between 1988-98. | have dedicated my entire career to the
education, development and welfare of children and young people in schools. As
ShiR at Fettes | wanted the pupils entrusted to the school to receive the same
quality of attention and care as | would have wanted for my own children. If the
provision that Fettes was providing was not as | would have wanted it to be for my
own children, it was certainly not good enough for the pupils for whom the school
had taken responsibility. Child abuse is a complete anathema to me and everyone
associated with Fettes would have known that | would never have tolerated or
condoned it AN Had | ever had the slightest suspicion of child abuse
occurring, | would have investigated it with rigorous thoroughness and | would have
immediately reported such concerns_The police would
have been brought in and during any police investigation the member of staff
concerned would have been suspended from any duties at the school. | am therefore

very disturbed that there should have been any allegations of child abuse -

2t Fettes because if these were to have foundation, _
I it would be a slur on the personal reputation and

integrity of Fettes staff and of its Governors at the time and it would be a slur on the

general reputation of the school.
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associated with it. This is however exactly the kind of area that the Inquiry should
attempt to address.

Where the behaviour of a member of staff is very unsatisfactory or illegal | think the
head needs to have the courage to dismiss him/her and if relevant, report the matter
to the national authorities. There is List 99 and you can always report an individual to
the authorities who run this list and they will decide if that member of staff needs to
be placed on it.

Subsequent to my video conferenced interview | have written to Lady Smith
suggesting that the Inquiry Team should look at two further potential child abuse
issues. The first of these is concerning the potential for child abuse issues to occur
with peripatetic staff who may be teaching children in one to one situations.
Consideration should be given to how carefully such staff are vetted at the time of
their appointments. | have also suggested that the Inquiry Team should look
carefully at the potential for child abuse to occur when pupils are taken away from
the school on trips, camps and expeditions. Unfortunately there have been a number
of well documented incidents of child abuse occurring on such trips organised by
schools.

| have no objection to my witness statement being published as part of the evidence

to the Inquiry. | believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true.




